( (
United States Courts
Southarn District of Texas
FILED
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT JUN 1 8 2003
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS =
HOUSTON DIVISION Mizhaal N, Milby, Olerk
____________________________________ X
IN RE ENRON CORPORATION Consolidated Civil Action

SECURITIES LITIGATION

This Document Relates To:

MARK NEWBY, et al., individually and
on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

V.

ENRON CORPORATION, ct al.,

Defendants.

THE REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY
OF CALIFORNIA, et al., individually and
on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

V.
KENNETH L. LAY, et al,,

Defendants.

No. H-01-3624

MEMORANDUM OF LAW OF MERRILL LYNCH & CO., INC.
AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC.
IN SUPPORT OF THEIR MOTION TO DISMISS AMENDED COMPLAINT

HICKS THOMAS & LILIENSTERN, LLP
700 Louisiana, Suite 2000

Houston, Texas 77002

(713) 547-9100

Attorneys for Defendants Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc.
and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Inc.

)
\7



TABLE OF CONTENTS
Page
PRELIMINARY STATEMENT ..ot 2
STATEMENT OF FACTS ..ottt b e eae s 4
A. Procedural Background...........coooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiic e 4
B. The December 19 Order.......ooieiieeic e 5
C. Allegations in the Amended Complaint Concerning Merrill Lynch ..................... 7
1. The Nigerian Barge Transaction..........cccoiviiiiniiniiniiennnnnin 7
2. The Power Transactions..........coovvviiiiiiiiiiiiic e 9
D. The SEC Complaint ......oooooiiiiiiieei e 9
ARGUMENT Lttt ettt et e e enee 10
[. PLAINTIFFS' CLAIMS AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH ARE BARRED BY THE
SUPREME COURT'S DECISION IN CENTRAL BANK ......c.cccoooiiviiiiiiiiecinincnieeeins 10
A. A Primary Violator Must Engage in Conduct that is Deceptive or
MaANIPUIALIVE ..ottt 10
B. Merrill Lynch's Alleged Conduct Was Not Manipulative or Deceptive ............. 14
II. PLAINTIFFS FAIL TO ALLEGE LOSS CAUSATION AGAINST
MERRILL LYNCOH Lottt st vt e e s n e e e neaans 21
CONCLUSION ..ttt ettt e bt et a et e e et e s e e ereenen 25



TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
Page(s)
Cases
Advanced Laser Prods., Inc. v. Signature Stock Transfer, Inc., No. Civ. A. 3:98-

CV-1624-D, 1999 WL 222385 (N.D. Tex. Apr. 12, 1999) ..ot 12
Affiliated Ute Citizens v. United States, 406 U.S. 128 (1972) i 11
Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224 (1988)..cuui ittt 20
Bastian v. Petren Resources Corp., 681 F. Supp. 530 (N.D. IlL 1988) .o 23
Central Bank of Denver, N. 4. v. First Interstate Bank of Denver, 511 U.S. 164

(1994 ettt bt a ettt n bt nan passim
Chiarella v. United States, 445 U.S. 222 (1980) . .oomeoeeeeee ettt eeaeebe s 11
Cooper v. Pickett, 137 F3d 616 (9th Cir. 1997 )it 11,13
GFL Advantage Fund, Ltd. v. Colkirt, 272 F.3d 189 (3d Cir. 2001). cert. denied,

122 S0 Co 2588 (2002) ittt ettt et s a e s be s s ne et e et aseneas 12
Huddleston v. Herman & MacLean, 640 F.2d 534 (5th Cir. 1981), aff’'d in part,

revid in part, 459 U.S. 375 (1983) it 21,22,24
Hundahl v. United Benefit Life Ins. Co., 465 F. Supp. 1349 (N.D. Tex. 1979).veveceiinie, 15
In re Blech Sec. Litig., 961 F. Supp. 569 (S.DN.Y. 1997).c.iiiiiiiiiiiiiinenieeecienes 11,13, 16
Inre Cybershop.com Sec. Litig., 189 F. Supp. 2d 214 (D.N.J. 2002) e, 23
Inre Equimed, Inc. Sec. Litig., No. 98-CV-5374, 2000 WL 562909 (E.D. Pa.

MaAY 9, 2000 )ittt ettt b e ta st et e saerae b neeaeatens 23,24
In re Homestore.com, Inc. Sec. Litig.. 252 F. Supp. 2d 1018 (C.D. Cal. 2003) ......ccocn........ passim
In re IKON Office Solutions, Inc. Sec. Litig., 131 F. Supp. 2d 680 (E.D. Pa. 2001).................... 23
Inre Sec. Litig. BMC Software, Inc., 183 F. Supp. 2d 860 (S.D. Tex. 2001, 8
In re Splash Tech. Holdings, Inc. Sec. Litig., No. C 99-00109 SBA, 2000 WL

1727377, at ¥19-20 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 29, 2000} ....oveiriiiiiiciiiienieieeeenreeeeee e 12
Marbury Management, Inc. v. Kohn, 629 F.2d 705 (2d Cir. 1980)..cccoveiiiciieeieeeceecee 22

il



TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
(Continued)
Page(s)
Nathenson v. Zonagen Inc., 267 F.3d 400 (Sth Cir. 2001) oo 20
No. 84 Employer-Teamster v. America West, 320 F.3d 920 (9th Cir. 2003).....ccveecivinvciincnns 18
Pegasus Holdings v. Veterinary Ctrs. of Am., Inc., 38 F. Supp. 2d 1158 (C.D. Cal.

1008 ) ettt et b et 12
Robbins v. Koger Props., Inc., 116 F.3d 1441 (11th Cir. 1997) ccveeiieericeeeieeeee, 22,23,24
Santa Fe Indus., Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S. 462 (1977 e eeeeaeveans 11,12, 15
Scone Invs., L.P. v. American Third Mkt. Corp.. No. 97 Civ. 3802 (SAS), 1998

WL 205338 (S.D.N.Y. ApPril 28, 1998) ..ciiiiiiiiieciece ittt rentete e s eeesaesee srres e seesaenen 12
SECv. US. Envtl., Inc., 155 F3d 107 (2d Cir. 1998) .coviiiiiiieieeeeece e 11, 14
SECv. Zandford, S35 U.S. 813 (2002 ettt s st 11, 18
Shapiro v. Cantor, 123 F.3d 717 (2d Cir. 1997).ciciiiiieceiicererte st 13
Superintendent of Ins. v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co., 404 U.S. 6 (1971) ceovviiiiiinicieceieee. 11

Statutes
LS U LS § T J(D) ettt et b e bt ene e passim
ES U S, § T8ttt ettt e h et b e sttt ene s b e 20
T5 ULS.CL§ TBUA(D)(A) oottt s sttt e et ena 21
L5 U.S.C.§ 78U-A(D)3N(B) ettt sttt st be s 2
Rules
FCd. R CIV. PuI2(B)(0). ettt sttt st sttt et b e be et 1
17 CFRL§ 240 10D-5. et et passim

i



UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

HOUSTON DIVISION
____________________________________ x
IN RE ENRON CORPORATION Consolidated Civil Action
SECURITIES LITIGATION . No. H-01-3624

This Document Relates To:

MARK NEWRBY, et al., individually and
on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

V.

ENRON CORPORATION, et al.,

Defendants.

THE REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY
OF CALIFORNIA, et al., individually and
on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

V.
KENNETH L. LAY, et al.,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OF LAW OF MERRILL LYNCH & CO., INC.
AND MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INC.
IN SUPPORT OF THEIR MOTION TO DISMISS AMENDED COMPLAINT

Defendants Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc. ("ML & Co.") and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner &
Smith Inc. ("MLPF&S" and, together with ML & Co., "Merrill Lynch") respectfully submit this
memorandum of law in support of their motion, pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), to dismiss

with prejudice plaintiffs' First Amended Consolidated Complaint for Violation of the Securities



Laws (the "Amended Complaint") as against Merrill Lynch. As explained below, plaintiffs'
allegations against Merrill Lynch allege, at most, that Merrill Lynch aided and abetted securities
fraud committed by Enron Corp. ("Enron"), and plaintiffs' claims are therefore barred by the
Supreme Court's decision in Central Bank of Denver, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank of Denver,
511 U.S. 164 (1994). Moreover, plaintiffs have not and are unable to plead loss causation, a

required element of a securities fraud claim. !

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Amended Complaint represents plaintiffs' second attempt to plead a claim against
Merrill Lynch for violations of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
"Exchange Act"), 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and SEC Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.2 Plaintiffs'
first effort resulted in a finding by this Court that, with respect to Merrill Lynch, "[t]he complaint

fails to assert any specific facts to give rise to actual knowledge of or reckless disregard of

' By virtue of this motion to dismiss, discovery in this action is stayed under the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(3)(B).

tJ

Plaintiffs' original complaint named only ML & Co., and not MLPF&S, as a defendant.
Plaintiffs now name two Merrill Lynch entities, but they lump both entities together and do
not distinguish the conduct of one from the conduct of the other. For purposes of this motion
to dismiss, Merrill Lynch accepts the truth of plaintiffs' allegations and assumes that all such
conduct can be attributed to Merrill Lynch collectively. Merrill Lynch further recognizes
that the Court has denied as premature motions for summary judgment by other defendants
who contended that they were not proper parties to this litigation. See Order, dated May 21
and entered May 22, 2003 (Docket #1392)). Merrill Lynch reserves its rights to seek
dismissal, at the appropriate time, of ML & Co. and/or MLPF&S on the ground that they are
not the appropriate parties to this action. As other bank defendants have argued, however,
the claim against the newly named entity, MLPF&S, is barred by the statute of limitations,
because it was filed more than one year after discovery of the facts constituting the alleged
violation, and does not relate back to the filing of the claim against ML & Co. because, at a
minimum, plaintiffs cannot show any "mistake" about the identity of the appropriate party.



fraud." Memorandum and Order re Secondary Actors' Motions to Dismiss, dated December 19
and entered December 20, 2002 ("December 19 Order"), at 294.

Plaintiffs have now added allegations concerning Merrill Lynch's involvement as a
counterparty in two transactions with Enron. Applying the test articulated by the Court in the
December 19 Order, Merrill Lynch respectfully submits that the conduct alleged by plaintiffs in
the Amended Complaint is, if anything, merely aiding and abetting securities fraud, and not a
primary violation of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. With respect to the newly added
transactions, Merrill Lynch is not alleged to have knowingly or recklessly made any material
misstatements or omissions, and it is not alleged to have engaged in conduct that itself was
manipulative or deceptive. Rather, even as now amended and supplemented by plaintiffs, the
most that Merrill Lynch is alleged to have done is to participate in transactions with Enron —
which Merrill Lynch is not alleged to have designed, structured, created or proposed — that were
later misrepresented by Enron in its financial statements. Thus, the only fraudulent statements or
conduct on which plaintiffs allege reliance were made or undertaken by Enron. Merrill Lynch
itself did not say or do anything fraudulent but, under plaintiffs' allegations, assisted Enron in
Enron's fraudulent conduct. This is precisely the type of conduct that is actionable by the SEC as
aiding and abetting, but not by private plaintiffs as a primary violation of Section 10(b). Indeed,
just three months ago, the SEC filed a complaint against Merrill Lynch and four of its former
employees based on allegations concerning two transactions that are virtually identical to the
allegations concerning Merrill Lynch added by plaintiffs in their Amended Complaint. The SEC
complaint charged only that Merrill Lynch aided and abetted securities fraud violations, not that

Merrill Lynch committed a primary violation of the securities laws.



This conclusion is also supported by a recent decision from the Central District of
California in In re Homestore.com, Inc. Sec. Litig., 252 F. Supp. 2d 1018 (C.D. Cal. 2003).
There, certain defendants were alleged to have participated in questionable transactions with
Homestore designed to permit Homestore to recognize inflated revenue. The Homestore court
dismissed the claims against those "business partner" defendants as failing to allege a primary
violation of the securities laws, holding that no post-Central Bank case has ever found a primary
violation by an outsider with no special relationship to the company or its shareholders, and that
plaintiffs' damages were caused by Homestore's misleading statements, rather than the business
partners' participation in any "scheme." Here, similarly, Merrill Lynch had no special
relationship to Enron or its shareholders with respect to the allegedly questionable transactions,
but simply acted as a business counterparty in those transactions. And, as in Homestore, any
damages to Enron's shareholders were caused by Enron's alleged misstatements regarding its
financial results, rather than by the transactions themselves or Merrill Lynch's conduct in
connection with the transactions. Thus, as in Homestore, Merrill Lynch did not commit a
primary violation of the securities laws.

For these reasons and others described below, plaintiffs' Amended Complaint against
Merrill Lynch should be dismissed with prejudice.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Procedural Backeround

The first lawsuits in this consolidated action were filed on October 22, 2001. The suits
initially named Enron, certain of its officers and directors, and its auditor, Arthur Andersen. On
April 8, 2002, following the appointment of a lead plaintiff and lead counsel, plaintiffs filed their
Consolidated Complaint (the "Original Complaint"), naming Merrill Lynch and several other

financial institutions (among others) as defendants for the first time. As they do in their



Amended Complaint, plaintiffs' Original Complaint asserted just one claim against Merrill
Lynch, alleging a violation of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.

The claim against Merrill Lynch was purportedly based on Merrill Lynch's "extensive
and extremely close relationship with Enron" (Orig. Compl. § 735) and its particular conduct in
providing investment banking services to Enron (id. {9 738, 745), in issuing research reports
concerning Enron (id. ¥ 746), and in serving as placement agent for and investing in "one of the
primary vehicles of the Enron fraud — the LIM2 partnership." Id. 9§ 740-42.

On May 8, 2002, Merrill Lynch and most or all of the other defendants filed motions to
dismiss. Merrill Lynch's motion was fully briefed and submitted on June 24, 2002.

B. The December 19 Order

On December 19, 2002, this Court issued a 307-page decision addressing the motions to
dismiss filed by Merrill Lynch and the other "secondary actors." The Court addressed at length
the requirements for pleading a Section 10(b) claim. Among other things, the Court discussed
the difference between a primary violation of Section 10(b) and conduct that merely aids and
abets a violation, which under Central Bank is not actionable by a private plaintiff. December 19
Order at 39-64. The Court analyzed the various tests that other courts have employed for
determining whether conduct constitutes a primary violation, but rejected those tests in favor of a
proposal by the SEC. Under the test adopted by the Court, a person is a primary violator if he or
she "creates" a misrepresentation, whether or not that person was the "initiator" of the
misrepresentation, and whether or not that person signs the misrepresentation or delivers it to the
public. December 19 Order at 52. However, "a person who prepares a truthful and complete
portion of a document would not be liable as a primary violator for misrepresentations in other

portions of the document. Even assuming such a person knew of misrepresentations elsewhere



in the document and thus had the requisite scienter, he or she would not have created those
misrepresentations.” Id. (quoting SEC amicus brief).

The Court also held that claims under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 "are not merely
limited to the making of an untrue statement of material fact or omission to state a matenal fact."
December 19 Order at 29. Thus, "under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c), where a group of defendants
allegedly participated in the scheme to defraud the public and enrich themselves in connection
with the purchase or sale of securities, any Defendant that itself, with the requisite scienter,
actively employed a significant material device, contrivance, scheme, or artifice to defraud or
actively engaged in a significant, material act, practice, or course of business that operated as a
fraud or deceit upon any person in connection with the purchase or sale of any security may be
primarily liable." Id. at 272-73.

After discussing the applicable law and the common allegations against the defendants,
the Court indicated that it would "address[] party-specific, concrete factual allegations against
each Defendant whose motion to dismiss is under review to see if Lead Plaintiff has asserted
with specificity some material misrepresentation or omission, use of a deceptive device or
contrivance or participation in a scheme or course of business to defraud investors in connection
with the purchase or sale of securities that would raise a strong inference of scienter.” December
19 Order at 276-77.

With regard to the allegations against Merrill Lynch, the Court held that "[t]he complaint
fails to assert any specific facts to give rise to actual knowledge of or reckless disregard of
fraud." December 19 Order at 294. Having found that plaintiffs had insufficiently pled Merrill
Lynch's scienter, the Court did not address whether Merrill Lynch's alleged conduct could

constitute a primary violation of Section 10(b). Rather than grant Merrill Lynch's motion to



dismiss, however, the Court took notice of certain allegations concerning two transactions
involving Merrill Lynch that had been reported in the press, and the Court denied Merrill
Lynch's motion, "provided that Lead Plaintiff supplements its complaint." /d. On Merrill
Lynch's motion for reconsideration, the Court clarified that, if plaintiffs amended their complaint
with additional allegations concerning Merrill Lynch, "Merrill Lynch will then have an
opportunity to challenge the adequacy of that new pleading through another motion to dismiss."
Order, dated January 23 and entered January 27, 2003 (Docket #1238), at 3.

On May 14, 2003, plaintiffs filed their Amended Complaint. This motion focuses on the
sufficiency of the new allegations as the other allegations do no more than repeat the matters
previously found insufficient by the Court.

C. Allegations in the Amended Complaint Concerning Merrill Lynch

As suggested by the Court in its December 19 Order, the Amended Complaint adds
allegations about two transactions that Merrill Lynch and Enron entered into near the end of
1999. Am. Compl. § 742.7. Plaintiffs contend that these transactions enabled Enron to
recognize profits of approximately $72 million. /d. Plaintiffs allege that "[n]either of the
'transactions' had any economic purpose whatsoever, other than to increase Enron's stock price
and generate present and future fees for Merrill Lynch." Id.

1. The Nigerian Barge Transaction

In the first transaction (the "Nigerian Barge Transaction"), plaintiffs allege that Enron
asked Merrill Lynch to purchase a power project involving three gas turbine power plants
mounted on barges anchored off the coast of Nigeria. Am. Compl. §Y 742.8-742.9. Enron
allegedly needed to sell the barges before the end of 1999 so that it could book $12 million in
earnings. I/d. Plaintiffs allege, however, that "[t]he 'sale’' was obviously a fake one" because

Enron promised Merrill Lynch that it would be "taken out" of the transaction within six months



at a fixed rate of return. Id. § 742.10. This promise was allegedly made in "an oral side
agreement," and was not incorporated into the transaction documents. /d. § 742.12.

Plaintiffs contend that Merrill Lynch knew that the transaction was a "sham" and that "the
obvious sole purpose of the deal was to manipulate Enron's reported profits.” Am. Compl.

9 742.10. They purport to quote from a document written by James Brown of Merrill Lynch,
who wrote that the transaction presented "reputational risk" because Merrill Lynch would be
participating in "Enron income stmt. manipulation." Id.>

Plaintiffs allege that on June 29, 2000, within six months from the original sale, LIM2
acquired Merrill Lynch's interest in the barges for an amount that provided the agreed-upon rate
of return to Merrill Lynch. Am. Compl. § 742.15.

Plaintiffs do not allege that Merrill Lynch directed or contrived the Nigerian Barge
Transaction. See Am. Compl. § 742.9 ("McMabhon[, Enron's Executive Vice President,] pitched
the deal to Merrill Lynch investment banker Robert Furst . . . ."). They also do not allege that
Merrill Lynch participated in any way in recording the transaction in Enron's books, or that it
made representations concerning the nature of the transaction to Enron's accountants or auditors
(or to anyone else, for that matter). Plaintiffs also do not allege that that there was anything
unlawful about Merrill Lynch investing in the barges and Enron giving a guaranty, provided that
the transaction was accounted for properly (presumably, in plaintiffs' view, as a loan). See Am.

Compl. § 742.10.

3 In fact, the full quote from Mr. Brown's notes — which the Court can consider because it is
"explicitly relied on in the complaint,” In re Sec. Litig. BMC Software, Inc., 183 F. Supp. 2d
860, 882 (S.D. Tex. 2001) (Harmon, J.) — states that Mr. Brown was concerned about
"aid[ing]/abet[ting] Enron income stmt. manipulation." Declaration of Stephen M. Loftin,
executed June 18, 2003 ("Loftin Decl."), Ex. A (emphasis added).



2. The Power Transactions

Plaintiffs also allege that at the end of 1999, Merrill Lynch entered into a series of power
contracts with Enron extending four years into the future (referred to by plaintiffs as the "Power
Swaps"), allegedly enabling Enron to recognize $60 million in profits. Am. Compl. §f 742.16,
742.20. Plaintiffs allege that, as with the Nigerian Barge Transaction, Merrill Lynch conditioned
its participation in the Power Swaps on "Enron's secret agreement” to cancel the transactions
after Enron reported its 1999 eamnings. Id.  742.20.

Plaintiffs allege that in April 2000, the Power Swaps were cancelled, and Merrill Lynch
received $8 million for its participation in the transaction. Am. Compl. § 742.20.

Once again, plaintiffs do not allege that Merrill Lynch itself directed or contrived the
Power Swaps. See Am. Compl. § 742.17 ("Enron requested the Merrill Lynch act as a strawman
...."). They again do not allege that Merrill Lynch was in any way involved with recording the
transaction in Enron's books, or with reviewing the correctness of Enron's accounting. Indeed,
plaintiffs acknowledge that Merrill Lynch received a written acknowledgement from Enron's
Chief Accounting Officcr, Richard Causey, stating that Enron had not relied on Merrill Lynch
for accounting advice in connection with the transactions. Am. Compl. § 742.19. Once again,
viewing plaintiffs’ allegations in the most favorable light possible, plaintiffs allege, in essence,
that Merrill Lynch participated in the Power Swaps, knowing that Enron intended to recognize
income from the transactions, and knowing that Enron and Merrill Lynch planned to cancel the
transaction after Enron's 1999 results were announced.

D. The SEC Complaint

Plaintiffs' allegations concerning the Nigerian Barge Transaction and the Power Swaps
largely track allegations made by the SEC in a complaint filed against Merrill Lynch and four of

its former employces on March 17, 2003 (the "SEC Complaint,” attached as Exhibit B to the



Loftin Declaration). In the SEC Complaint, based on Merrill Lynch's participation in the
Nigerian Barge Transaction and the Power Swaps, the SEC asserted four claims: (1) aiding and
abetting violations of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5; (2) aiding and abetting violations of Section
13(a) of the Exchange Act and SEC Rules 12b-20, 13a-1 and 13a-13; (3) aiding and abetting
violations of Sections 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act and SEC Rule 13b2-1;
and (4) aiding and abetting violations of Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act.

On the same day as the SEC Complaint was filed, the SEC and Merrill Lynch entered
into an agreement settling the claims against Merrill Lynch without any admission of
wrongdoing by Merrill Lynch.

ARGUMENT

I

PLAINTIFFS' CLAIMS AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH ARE BARRED
BY THE SUPREME COURT'S DECISION IN CENTRAL BANK

A. A Primary Violator Must Engage in
Conduct that is Deceptive or Manipulative

The dispositive issue on Merrill Lynch's motion to dismiss the Amended Complaint is the
Supreme Court's decision in Central Bank. Central Bank makes clear (and Merrill Lynch does
not dispute) that "[a]ny person,” including a secondary actor, "who employs a manipulative
device or makes a material misstatement (or omission) on which a purchaser or seller of
securities relies may be liable as a primary violator under 10b-5, assuming all of the
requirements for primary liability under Rule 10b-5 are met." 511 U.S. at 191.

Central Bank dictates, however, that only conduct that is expressly prohibited by the text
of Section 10(b) can suffice to violate Section 10(b) or Rule 10b-5. 511 U.S. at 177. "[T]he
statute prohibits only the making of a material misstatement (or omission) or the commission of

a manipulative act. . .. We cannot amend the statute to create liability for acts that are not

10



themselves manipulative or deceptive within the meaning of the statute." Id. at 177-78; see also
Chiarella v. United States, 445 U.S. 222, 234-35 (1980) ("Section 10(b) is aptly described as a
catchall provision, but what it catches must be fraud."); Santa Fe Indus., Inc. v. Green, 430 U.S.
462, 473 (1977) ("The language of § 10(b) gives no indication that Congress meant to prohibit
any conduct not involving manipulation or deception.").

In the key cases on this issue discussed by the Court in the December 19 Order, primary
liability has been found only where the defendant itself is alleged to have engaged in a
"manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance." 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b). In Affiliated Ute Citizens
v. United States, 406 U.S. 128, 153 (1972), the defendant bank employees undertook a duty to
the shareholders, and therefore acted deceptively by inducing the shareholders to sell their stock
without disclosing that the bank was acting as a market maker and stood to gain financially. Cf
Chiarella, 445 U.S. at 230 (explaining that, in Affiliated Ute, "no duty of disclosure would exist
if the bank merely had acted as a transfer agent"). In Superintendent of Ins. v. Bankers Life &
Cas. Co., 404 U.S. 6, 9 (1971), the seller of bonds "was duped into believing that it, the seller,
would receive the proceeds," but instead the defendants misappropriated the proceeds. Similarly,
in SEC v. Zandford, 535 U.S. 813, 815 (2002), a broker with management discretion over a
securities account allegedly engaged in deceptive conduct by engaging in unauthorized sales for
his own benefit without disclosure to his customer. In SEC v. U.S. Envtl., Inc., 155 F.3d 107,
112 (2d Cir. 1998), the defendant "effect[ed] the very buy and sell orders that artificially
manipulated USE's stock price upward." In Cooper v. Pickett, 137 F.3d 616, 624 (9th Cir. 1997),
the defendant itself made misleading statements to analysts with the intent that the analysts
communicate those statements to the market. In In re Blech Sec. Litig., 961 F. Supp. 569, 584

(S.D.N.Y. 1997) (Blech II), the court held that "[t]he act of clearing sham trades alone, even with
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scienter, is not enough" to constitute primary liability; the complaint stated a claim only insofar
as 1t alleged that the defendant not only cleared the trades, but also "directed" or "contrived"
certain allegedly fraudulent trades.

By contrast, where the defendant's conduct itself does not involve "some element of
deception," courts have found no primary liability. See Santa Fe Indus., 430 U.S. at 475
(allegations of fiduciary breach without material misrepresentation, failure to disclose, or
manipulative conduct did not state a claim for violation of Section 10(b) or Rule 10b-5); GFL
Advantage Fund, Ltd. v. Colkitt, 272 F.3d 189, 207 (3d Cir. 2001) (lawful short selling did not
constitute market manipulation because it did not involve "injecting false inaccurate information
into the marketplace or creating a false impression of supply and demand for the stock™), cert.
denied, 122 S. Ct. 2588 (2002); In re Splash Tech. Holdings, Inc. Sec. Litig., No. C 99-00109
SBA, 2000 WL 1727377, at *19-20 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 29, 2000) (defendants not primarily liable
where they did not make a misleading statement and where plaintifts failed to allege adequately
that defendants engaged in manipulative or deceptive insider trading); Advanced Laser Prods.,
Inc. v. Signature Stock Transfer, Inc., No. Civ. A. 3:98-CV-1624-D, 1999 WL 222385, at *2
(N.D. Tex. Apr. 12, 1999) (defendants alleged to have "fenced" stolen securities were not
primarily liable because "the acts on which [plaintiff] bases the claims do not involve the
element of deception by [defendant]. Deception is required to state a cause of action under
§ 10(b) and Rule 10b-5."); Pegasus Holdings v. Veterinary Ctrs. of Am., Inc., 38 F. Supp. 2d
1158, 1163 (C.D. Cal. 1998) (dismissing complaint against "three non-speaking defendants, who
have not been charged with any specific predicate acts of fraudulent behavior"); Scone Invs., L.P.
v. American Third Mkt. Corp., No. 97 Civ. 3802 (SAS), 1998 WL 205338, at *8-9 (S.D.N.Y.

April 28, 1998) (bank was not liable even though it financed other defendants’ initial purchase of

12



shares and later directed that shares be sold and released shares from inventory, which facilitated
other defendants' fraud on plaintiffs; distinguishing Blech II because bank participated only
indirectly in sale of securities).

In the December 19 Order, this Court recognized that primary liability can lie only where
the defendant engaged in an act (whether in the form of a misrepresentation or other device,
scheme, artifice, act, or practice that operates as a fraud) that itself deceives investors. The Court
stated, for instance, that a complaint alleging "scheme" liability against a group of defendants is
sufficient only "as long as each defendant committed a manipulative or deceptive act in
furtherance of the scheme." December 19 Order at 58-59 (quoting Cooper, 137 F.3d at 624); see
also December 19 Order at 272-73 ("any Defendant that itself, with the requisite scienter,
actively employed a significant material device, contrivance, scheme, or artifice to defraud or
actively engaged in a significant, material act, practice, or course of business that operated as a
fraud or deceit upon any person in connection with the purchase or sale of any security may be
primarily liable") (emphasis added). Accord Homestore, 252 F. Supp. 2d at 1040 ("Those who
actually 'employ' the scheme to defraud investors are primary violators, while those who merely

participate in or facilitate the scheme are secondary violators.").4

4 Elsewhere, the December 19 Order stated that primary liability may be found when a
defendant has merely "participated” in a scheme to defraud, whether or not the conduct
allegedly engaged in by the defendant was itself manipulative or deceptive. December 19
Order at 30; see also id. at 276. Indeed, the December 19 Order stated that once a party
engages in any prohibited conduct with scienter, "any alleged subsequent activity by that
party," including even silence, "necessarily becomes suspect as further complicity in,
expansion of, and perpetuation of the alleged Ponzi scheme." Id. at 277 (emphasis added). If
this language were applied literally, it would clearly be an erroneous statement of the law
following Central Bank. See Shapiro v. Cantor, 123 F.3d 717, 720 (2d Cir. 1997)
("Allegations of 'assisting,' 'participating in,' 'complicity in' and similar synonyms used
throughout the complaint all fall within the prohibitive bar of Central Bank."). We do not

[Footnote continued on next page]
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Similarly, in accepting the SEC's test for primary liability, the Court recognized that "a
person who prepares a truthful and complete portion of a document," "[e]ven assuming such a
person knew of misrepresentations elsewhere in the document," "would not be liable as a
primary violator." December 19 Order at 52 (quoting SEC amicus brief). That, of course, is
because the deception is the product not of the person's own draftsmanship, but of the
draftsmanship or statements of others. Analogously, a person who does not himself engage in a
manipulative or deceptive act would not be liable as a primary violator, even if he knows that his
lawful act was part of a scheme to defraud employed by another person.

As the December 19 Order itself noted, "scienter [is] a separate issue and not relevant to”
the question of whether a defendant is a primary violator or merely an aider and abettor.
December 19 Order at 60 (citing SEC v. U.S. Envtl.). "[W]hether [a defendant] was a primary
violator rather than an aider and abettor turns on the nature of his acts, not on his state of mind
when he performed them." U.S. Envel., 155 F.3d at 111.

B. Merrill Lynch's Alleged Conduct Was Not Manipulative or Deceptive

Here, Merrill Lynch is not alleged to have engaged in any manipulative or deceptive
conduct at all. Rather, the most that is alleged is that Merrill Lynch engaged in transactions with
Enron that were later misrepresented by Enron in its financial statements. Although plaintiffs
assert that the transactions were "shams," there is nothing inherently fraudulent or wrongful
about entering into transactions with promises by Enron to cancel or reverse the transactions; any
impropriety is a result only of Enron's alleged failure to account for the transactions properly.

There is no specific allegation that Merrill Lynch's role in the Nigerian Barge Transaction or

[Footnote continued from previous page]
understand that the Court's use of ambiguous language at several points in the December 19
Order was intended to announce a standard at odds with the law described above.
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Power Swaps was anything more than as a passive, commercial counterparty, and it is not
alleged to have created, structured, or directed the alleged misstatements or the transactions
themselves. There can be no primary liability in such circumstances.>

Clearly, Merrill Lynch's roles in the Nigerian Barge Transaction and the Power Swaps do
not constitute "manipulative" conduct because, as this Court has acknowledged, "manipulation”
is "virtually a term of art when used in connection with securities markets and refers to practices
such as wash sales, matched orders, or rigged prices, that are intended to mislead investors by
artificially affecting market activity." December 19 Order at 11 n.8 (internal quotation marks
omitted; quoting Santa Fe Indus., 430 U.S. at 476); see also Hundahl v. United Benefit Life Ins.
Co., 465 F. Supp. 1349, 1360 (N.D. Tex. 1979) (manipulative devices are "practices in the
marketplace which have the effect of either creating the false impression that certain market
activity is occurring when in fact such activity is unrelated to actual supply and demand or
tampering with the price itself™).

The schemes or devices involved in such cases were in and of themselves manipulative.
No second step was necessary; the activities themselves deceived the market. This factor is
critical in establishing Section 10(b) liability. The Supreme Court emphatically underscored just

this point in Central Bank, emphasizing that there is no Section 10(b) liability "for acts that are

5> Similarly, there can be no primary liability based on Merrill Lynch's alleged role as
placement agent for, and limited partner in, LIM2 because there was nothing inherently
fraudulent or wrongful about the capitalization of LIM2. Rather, it was the subsequent
transactions between Enron and Enron-related SPEs that in turn had dealings with LIM2 —
and, more precisely, Enron's alleged failure to account for those transactions properly — that
caused a misstatement of Enron's financial statements and the alleged harm to plaintiffs. As
a throwaway, plaintiffs point to Merrill Lynch's alleged termination of analyst John Olson
(an event outside the statute of limitations and apparently unrelated to any claims), even
though Mr. Olson's termination had no bearing whatsoever on the alleged improper
accounting by Enron in its financial statements. See Am. Compl. Y 742.2-742 4.
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not themselves manipulative or deceptive within the meaning of the statute." 511 U.S. at 177-78
(emphasis added). Correlatively, as discussed above, primary liability is imposed only on the
person or entity that actually engaged in the manipulative or deceptive act.

By contrast, neither of the transactions alleged here directly affected the market for Enron
securities. The "deception” did not occur until Enron allegedly misreported them. There is no
allegation, nor could there be, that the transactions themselves — as opposed to Enron's
disclosures — deceived any investor. Had Enron properly accounted for the transactions
(assuming that it did not), there would have been no fraud at all. Unlike the example used by the
Court and the SEC (where a person "creates" a misrepresentation that is issued by another),
Merrill Lynch is not alleged to have created, drafted, reviewed, advised on, authorized, or
approved the accounting treatment or disclosure of the transactions in Enron's financial
statements. Merrill Lynch is not alleged to have "directed" or "contrived" the transactions, or in
any way to have caused Enron to enter into or misrepresent the transactions. Cf. Blech II, 961 F.
Supp. at 584. Rather, plaintiffs allege that Enron designed the transactions and proposed them to
Merrill Lynch. See Am. Compl. § 742.9, 742.17. Even assuming, as we must for purposes of
this motion, that "[n]either of the 'transactions’ had any economic purpose whatsoever” other than
to fraudulently inflate Enron's financial results (Am. Compl. 4 742.7), participation in the
transactions as a counterparty to Enron — without any affirmative act of deceit by Merrill
Lynch — is not a violation of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5. Any "deception" of the market thus
was the act of Enron, not of Merrill Lynch.

A recent decision by Judge Pechman in the Central District of California is directly on
point, and therefore warrants an extended discussion. In that case, In re Homestore.com, Inc.

Sec. Litig., a number of "business partners" and "third party vendors" of Homestore.com,
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including AOL Time Warner, were alleged to have engaged in "barter transactions,” "buying

revenues,” and "triangular transactions"” or "round-tripping" with Homestore that created revenue
for Homestore and enabled it to meet its revenue targets. 252 F. Supp. 2d at 1022-26. The court
discussed Central Bank at length, and dismissed the Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 claims against

these secondary actors. The court based its decision on three grounds:

First, the parties have not cited, and the Court is unaware of, any post-Central
Bank case that has ever held that a simple business partner to a corporation is
liable to the shareholders of that corporation for securities fraud. The Court
declines the invitation to be the first. Second, no matter how a "scheme" is
defined, Central Bank dictates that only those participants who commit "primary
violations” of the securities laws may be held liable; those who merely facilitate
or participate cannot. Third, in this case, the shareholders of Homestore were
damaged by their reliance on statements and material omissions made by
Homestore, not the "scheme" itself.

Id. at 1037-38.

The court then elaborated on each of its reasons. First, with respect to claims against an

"outsider," the court stated:

[T]he Court is unaware of any case since Central Bank that has cver held that
outside business partners, no matter how involved they were in fraudulent
transactions with a corporation, can be held liable in a private action brought by
the shareholders of that company. . . .

. ... [P]ersons "outside" a corporation have been held liable as primary
violators in private actions brought by shareholders of that corporation if those
persons substantially and directly participated in the creation of false or
misleading statements to the investing public. . . . [I]n every post-Central Bank
case cited to the Court where an "outsider” has been held liable as a primary
violator, that outsider had some type of special relationship with the corporation,
i.e., accountant, auditor, etc.

. ... [T]he language of the Supreme Court [in Central Bank] does not
suggest, and the subsequent case law does not support, the notion that a business
partner with no special relationship with a corporation, let alone its shareholders,
can be held liable for the material misstatements or omissions of that corporation
or its officers, no matter how much it assisted or participated in transactions that
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led to that statement or omission. Such a holding would broaden the scope of the
securities acts so as to haul into court anyone doing business with a publically
[sic] traded company.

Id. at 1038-39.

stated:

Second, with respect to the definition of a primary violator after Central Bank, the court

What is clear, however, is that Central Bank requires a plaintiff to allege
that each and every defendant committed its own independent primary violation
of securities laws in order to state a claim. . . . [O]f the many participants in a
"scheme," there may be primary violators and secondary violators. Those who
actually "employ" the scheme to defraud investors are primary violators, while
those who merely participate in or facilitate the scheme are secondary violators.
In the present case, the primary architects of the scheme are the officers of
Homestore who designed and carried out the schemes to defraud. The Court
holds that other actors, such as AOL and its employees who actively participated
in the triangular transaction scheme, did not "employ"” the scheme to defraud
investors, and are therefore secondary violators. Therefore, they are "aiders and
abettors" within the meaning of Central Bank.

Id. at 1040.

Finally, the court addressed the fact that Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 extend to conduct

beyond the making of a material misstatement or omission:

It is true that no "statement" is required to state a claim under Rule 10b-5
in general. For example, a person may be liable for a manipulative "act" or
deceptive scheme that operates a fraud on another with respect to the purchase or
sale of a security. SEC v. Zandford, 535 U.S. 813, 122 S. Ct. 1899, 1903 (2002)
(broker held liable for conversion of securities from elderly person). In addition,
a person may be held liable under Rule 10b-5 for insider trading, which has been
considered a deceptive "device." No. 84 Employer-Teamster v. America West,
320 F.3d [920,] 937 [(9th Cir. 2003)]. However, in each of these examples, it was
the act or device that actually caused the damage to the injured party.

In the present case, plaintiff suffered damage through its reliance on false
or misleading statements, not from the "scheme" itself. Thus, the scheme is one
step removed from the injured party. The scheme was not complete until the
statement was made. Essentially what plaintiff alleges is a scheme to make a
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deceptive statement or material omission. Yet the principal "wrong" alleged

under the rule is the statement, not the scheme. Therefore, it is appropriate to

require defendants in this case to be connected in some material way to the

drafting of the statements made to the investing public. Here, this means the SEC

filings, the press releases, the oral statements of Homestore, and the supporting

statements of its anditor, Pricewaterhouse Coopers. Because plaintiff did not (and
cannot) sufficiently allege that any of the business partner or third party vendor
defendants substantially contributed to those statements, it cannot state a claim

against those defendants for damages resulting from reliance on statements or

material omissions.

Id. at 1040-41(second and third emphases added).

Here, Merrill Lynch's alleged role in connection with the Nigerian Barge Transaction and
the Power Swaps is very similar to the role of AOL and the business partner and third party
vendor defendants in Homestore. Merrill Lynch had no special relationship with Enron or its
shareholders in connection with these transactions; it was simply a third party who happened to
do business with Enron. To the extent there was a scheme to defraud, the scheme was dependent
on Enron's conduct in (allegedly) accounting for the two transactions improperly and including
this improper accounting in its publicly issued financial statements. Enron allegedly designed
the transactions and employed the scheme, and Merrill Lynch, at most, participated in or
facilitated Enron's scheme. The transactions themselves were not fraudulent or illegal, and the
only deceptive aspect of the scheme was the allegedly misleading accounting in Enron's financial
statements. As in Homestore, Merrill Lynch's conduct was "one step removed” from the
fraudulent statements that allegedly caused plaintiffs' injury. Plaintiffs do not and cannot allege
that Merrill Lynch contributed to those statements. Indeed, in connection with the Power Swaps,

Enron expressly represented that Merrill Lynch had not advised on the accounting for the

transaction.
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Moreover, Merrill Lynch's participation in the two transactions cannot be the basis for
plaintiffs' claims because plaintiffs cannot allege that they relied upon Merrill Lynch's conduct.
Central Bank re-emphasized that a private Section 10(b) claim requires an allegation that the
plaintiffs "relied upon the [defendant's] statements or actions." 511 U.S. at 180; see also
December 19 Order at 40. Even assuming that the fraud-on-the-market doctrine could apply,
that doctrine is based on the hypothesis that the price of a company's stock is based on "the
available material information" concerning the company. Basic Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224,
241 (1988) (citation omitted). Here, there is no contention that the market ever knew of Merrill
Lynch's conduct in the transactions. In fact, there is no allegation that the market knew of the
transactions at all. Rather, the only information made public was the financial statement impact
of the transactions, which was allegedly misrepresented by Enron. Thus, the available public
information, theoretically incorporated into the price of Enron securities, was Enron's
misrepresentation, not any conduct by Merrill Lynch. Therefore, the fraud-on-the-market theory
does not suffice to establish plaintiffs' reliance on any conduct by Merrill Lynch. See, e.g.,
Basic, 485 U.S. at 248 ("Any showing that severs the link between the alleged misrepresentation
and . . . the price received (or paid) by the plaintiff . . . will be sufficient to rcbut the presumption
of reliance."); Nathenson v. Zonagen Inc., 267 F.3d 400, 414 (5th Cir. 2001) ("a fraud-on-the-
market theory may not be the basis for recovery in respect to an alleged misrepresentation which
does not affect the market price of the security in question™).

As this Court observed in the December 19 Order, Congress, in amending the securities
laws in 1995, decided to give the SEC, but not private plaintiffs, the right to bring an action
against someone who "knowingly provides substantial assistance to another person” in violation

of the federal securities laws. 15 U.S.C. § 78t(e); see December 19 Order at 40 n.23. As noted
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above, in the SEC Complaint, based on the very same transactions alleged by plaintiffs in the
Amended Complaint, the SEC asserted aiding and abetting claims against Merrill Lynch, and
nothing more. Because such claims are not actionable by private plaintiffs under Central Bank,
plaintiffs' claims against Merrill Lynch must be dismissed.

Accordingly, because there are no allegations in the Amended Complaint that would
support a finding of a primary violation of Section 10(b) or Rule 10b-5 by Merrill Lynch, the
Court should grant Merrill Lynch's motion to dismiss the Amended Complaint with prejudice.

IL

PLAINTIFFS FAIL TO ALLEGE LOSS
CAUSATION AGAINST MERRILL LYNCH

In addition to failing to allege a primary violation of the securities laws by Merrill Lynch,
plaintiffs' claim against Merrill Lynch must also be dismissed for failure to plead that any losses
they have suffered were caused by Merrill Lynch's alleged conduct. The Nigerian Barge
Transaction and the Power Swaps did not become publicly known until, respectively, April and
August of 2002, nearly five months and nine months after the class period ended and long after
the price of Enron securities had collapsed due to the revelation of other matters. Plaintiffs never
plead — and, under these circumstances, they could never prove — that their financial losses were
caused by the two alleged transaction engaged in by Merrill Lynch.

Loss causation is an essential element of a claim under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.

See 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b)(4) ("In any private action arising under this chapter, the plaintiff shall
have the burden of proving that the act or omission of the defendant alleged to violate this
chapter caused the loss for which the plaintiff seeks to recover damages."). The Fifth Circuit

articulated the loss causation requirement in Huddleston v. Herman & MacLean, 640 F.2d 534,
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549 (5th Cir. 1981), aff'd in part, rev'd in part on other grounds, 459 U.S. 375 (1983), where it

stated:

Causation requires one further step in the analysis: even if the investor would not
otherwise have acted, was the misrepresented fact a proximate cause of the loss?

. ... The plaintiff must prove not only that, had he known the truth, he would not
have acted, but in addition that the untruth was in some reasonably direct, or
proximate, way responsible for his loss. The causation requirement is satisfied in
a Rule 10b-5 case only if the misrepresentation touches upon the reasons for the
investment's decline in value. If the investment decision is induced by
misstatements or omissions that are material and that were relied upon by the
claimant, but are not the proximate reason for his pecuniary loss, recovery under
the Rule is not permitted. See Marbury Management, Inc. v. Kohn, 629 F.2d 705,
718 (2d Cir. 1980) (Meskill, J., dissenting). Absent the requirement of causation,
Rule 10b-5 would become an insurance plan for the cost of every security
purchased in reliance upon a material misstatement or omission.

(Citation and footnote omitted.)

Allegations that the price of a company's stock was artificially inflated due to the
fraudulent conduct of the defendants are not sufficient to satisfy the requirement of loss
causation. Robbins v. Koger Props., Inc., 116 F.3d 1441, 1447-48 (11th Cir. 1997). Rather,
plaintiffs show loss causation only if they demonstrate that "this price inflation was removed
from the market price of [the company's] stock, causing plaintiffs a loss." Id. at 1448. In
Robbins, a group of investors brought suit under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 against Koger
Properties, Inc., its officers, and its independent accounting firm when the price of Koger's stock
dropped following a dividend cut. See id. at 1445. At trial, the plaintiffs presented evidence that
the accounting firm had made fraudulent statements which had inflated the price at which they
purchased Koger's stock, but the alleged fraudulent statements had not been discovered until
more than one year after the drop in stock price. See id. at 1445-46. The district court denied the
accounting firm's motion for judgment as a matter of law on loss causation, but the Eleventh

Circuit reversed. The Eleventh Circuit, citing Huddleston, held that the investors had failed to
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satisfy the loss causation requirement because they did not present evidence that the artificial
inflation allegedly caused by the accounting firm was removed from the market price of Koger's
stock, thereby causing a loss. See id. at 1448-49. See also In re IKON Office Solutions, Inc. Sec.
Litig., 131 F. Supp. 2d 680 (E.D. Pa. 2001) (loss causation not shown where "stock price never
'dropped in response to disclosure of the alleged misrepresentations').

While Robbins was decided following a trial, courts have also dismissed complaints on
motions to dismiss for failure to plead loss causation. See In re Equimed, Inc. Sec. Litig., No.
98-CV-5374, 2000 WL 562909, at *8 (E.D. Pa. May 9, 2000) (dismissing Rule 10b-5 claim for
failure to plead loss causation; "The purported class period ends in June, 1998, but the
government's Medicare/CHAMPUS fraud action was not made public until late August, 1998.
Plaintiffs assert that the fraud caused an inflation in Equimed's earnings; they do not allege that
filing that action or public disclosure of the fraud caused the price to drop within the class
period."); see also In re Cybershop.com Sec. Litig., 189 F. Supp. 2d 214, 233 (D.N.J. 2002)
(granting motion to dismiss where "[t]he stock price did not drop after investors first received
notice" of the allegedly omitted information); Bastian v. Petren Resources Corp., 681 F. Supp.
530, 536 (N.D. Ill. 1988).

Here, all that plaintiffs have pled is that the market price of Enron securities was
"artificially and falsely inflated by defendants' wrongful scheme and/or false and misleading
statements." Am. Compl. §997. As Robbins makes clear, however, this contention is
insufficient to show loss causation. Nowhere in the Amended Complaint do plaintiffs allege —
not even in conclusory fashion — that Merrill Lynch's alleged conduct caused them any pecuniary
loss. Instead, plaintiffs claim that "Enron's stock collapsed” following Enron's announcement of

a restatement of its financial results in October and November 2001, the subsequent downgrade
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of Enron's credit rating, and its filing for bankruptcy protection. Am. Compl. § 3; see also id.
9§ 66. Plaintiffs have not pled that Merrill Lynch's conduct is "in some reasonably direct, or
proximate, way responsible for [their] loss." Huddleston, 640 F.2d at 549.

Moreover, in the present circumstances, plaintiffs’ failure to plead loss causation is not
merely a technical matter that can be cured by repleading. Here, as in Robbins and Equimed, the
"truth" about Merrill Lynch's conduct was not publicly revealed until long after the end of the
class period and Enron's bankruptcy filing. The proposed class period ended on November 27,
2001. The Nigerian Barge Transaction did not become public until it was reported in The Wall
Street Journal on April 9, 2002. See Loftin Decl., Ex. C. The Power Swaps were not revealed
until a New York Times story on August 8, 2002. Id., Ex. D.

Under these circumstances, plaintiffs' claims against Merrill Lynch should be dismissed

for failure to plead loss causation.
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CONCLUSION

For these reasons, this Court should grant Merrill Lynch's motion to dismiss the
Amended Complaint. Because plaintiffs have now had two opportunities to state a claim against
Merrill Lynch, and because the conduct alleged can never suffice to constitute a primary

violation of the securities laws, dismissal should be with prejudice.
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Telephone: (713) 632-8000

Facsimile: (713) 632-8002

Attorney for Plaintiff Florida State Board of Administration
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Stephen D. Oestreich

SLOTNICK, SHAPIRO & CROCKER, LLP
100 Park Avenue, 35" Floor

New York, New York 10017

Telephone: (212) 687-5000

Facsimile: (212) 687-3080

Attorney for Turnberry Asset Management

Charles R. Parker

HiLL, PARKER & ROBERSON, LLP
5300 Memorial, Suite 700
Houston, Texas 77007

Telephone: (713) 868-5581
Facsimile: (713) 868-1275
Attorney for Plaintiff NYC Funds

Thomas W. Sankey

SANKEY & LUCK, L.L.P.

600 Travis Street, Suite 6200

Houston, Texas 77002

Telephone: (713) 224-1007

Facsimile; (713) 223-7737

Attorney for Plaintiffs JMG Capital Partners LP, JMG Triton Offshore Fund Ltd., TQA Master Fund
Lid., TQA Master Plus Fund Ltd., George Nicoud

Sidney S. Liebesman

Jay W. Eisenhofer

GRANT & EISENHOFER PA

1220 N. Market Ste., Suite 500

Wilmington, Pennsylvania 19801

Telephone: (302) 622-7000

Facsimile: (302) 622-7100

Attorney for Plaintiffs Employees of Retirement System of Ohio, Teachers Retirement System of Ohio

Deborah R. Gross

LAW OFFICES OF BERNARD R. GRroSs, P.C.

1515 Locust Street, 2™ Floor

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19102

Telephone: (215) 561-3600

Facsimile: (215) 561-3000

Attorney for Stoneridge Investment Partners, LLC

William B. Federman

FEDERMAN & SHERWOOD

120 North Robinson, Suite 2720

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma 73102

Telephone: (405) 235-1560

Facsimile: (405) 239-2112

Attorney for Plaintiffs Victor Ronald Frangione, The Davidson Group
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Ronald Joseph Kormanik

Michael D. Sydow

SYDOW, KROMANIK, CARRIGON & ECKERSON, L..L.P.
1111 Bagby, Suite 4700

Houston, Texas 77002

Telephone: (713) 225-7285

Facsimile: (713) 752-2199

Attorney for Plaintiff Private Asset Management

Jack E. McGehee

James V. Pianelli

Timothy D. Riley

MCGEHEE & PIANELLI, L.L.P.

1225 N. Loop West, Suite 810

Houston, Texas 77008

Telephone: (713) 864-4000

Facsimile: (713) 868-9393

Attorneys for Plaintiffs The Proposed Preferred Purchaser Lead Plaintiffs, Harold Karnes, Henry H.
Steiner

James D. Baskin, I11

BASKIN LAW FIRM

919 Congress Avenue, Suite 1000

Austin, Texas 78701

Telephone: (512) 381-6300

Facsimile: (512) 322-9280

Attorney for Plaintiffs Muriel P. Kaufman IRA, Pirelli Armstrong Tire Corporation Retiree Medical
Benefits Trust, Michael P. Harney

Steven E. Cauley

Paul J. Geller

CAULEY, GELLER, BOWMAN & COATES

(P.O. Box 25438 75221-5438)

11311 Arcade Drive, Suite 200

Little Rock, Arkansas 72212

Telephone: (561) 750-3000

Facsimile: (561) 750-3364

Attorney for Plaintiffs William E. Davis, Roxann Davis, E. Bruce Chaney

Rose Ann Reeser, Deputy Chief

Consumer Protection Division

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL — STATE OF TEXAS

(300 West Fifteenth Street, 78701)

P.O. Box 12548

Austin, Texas 78711-2548

Telephone: (512) 475-4632

Facsimile: (512) 477-4544

Attorney for Employees Retirement System of Texas, the Teacher Retirement System of Texas, the Texas
Comptroller of Public Accounts, and the Texas Tomorrow Fund
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Justin M. Campbell, 111

CAMPBELL HARRISON & DANGLEY, LLP
4000 Two Houston Center

909 Fannin Street

Houston, Texas 77010

Telephone: (713) 752-2332

Facsimule: (713) 752-2330
rharrison@chd-law.com

Liaison Counsel for Tittle Plaintiffs

Jeffrey B. Kaiser

KAISER & MAY, L.L.P.

1440 Lyric Centre

440 Louisiana

Houston, Texas 77002

Telephone: (713) 227-3050

Facsimile: (713) 227-0488

Attorney for William Coy, Candy Mounter

James F. Marshall

JUDICIAL WATCH, INC.

2540 Huntington Drive, Suite 201

San Marino, California 91108-2601
Telephone: (626) 287-4540

Facsimile: (626) 287-2003

Email: marshall@attglobal.net
Attorneys for Plaintiff Ralph A. Wilt, Jr.

Carolyn S. Schwartz

UNITED STATES TRUSTEE, REGION 2
33 Whitehall Street, 21 Floor

New York, New York 10004
Telephone: (212) 510-0500
Facsimile: (212) 668-2255

Trustee for Debtor Enron Corporation

Scott Lassetter

WEIL, GOTSHAL & MANGES
700 Louisiana Street, Suite 1600
Houston, TX 77002

Telephone: (713) 546-5000
Facsimile: (713) 224-9511
Email: scott.lassetter@weil.com
Attorneys for Defendant Enron
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Stephen D. Susman

Kenneth S. Marks

SUSMAN GODREY

1000 Louisiana, Suite 5100

Houston, Texas 77002-5096

Telephone: (713) 651-9633

Facsimile: (713) 653-7897
kmarks(@susmangodfrey.com

Attorneys for Defendant Enron Corporation

Craig Smyser

SMYSER KAPLAN & VESELKA, LLP

Bank of America Center

700 Louisiana, Suite 2300

Houston, Texas 77002

Telephone: (713) 221-2300

Facsimile: (713) 221-2320
csmysenaskv.com

Attorneys for Defendant Andrew S. Fastow

Rusty Hardin

RUSTY HARDIN & ASSOCIATES, P.C.

1201 Louisiana, Suite 3300

Houston, Texas 77002

Telephone: (713) 652-9000

Facsimile: (713) 652-9800

rhardin@erustyhardin.com

Attorneys for Defendants Arthur Anderson, LLP , Arthur Andersen-Puerto Rico, Andersen LLP
(Andersen-Cayman Islands), C.E. Andrews, Dorsey L. Baskin, Michael L. Bennett, Joseph F. Berardino,
Donald Dreyfus, James A. Friedlieb, Gary B. Goolsby, Gregory W. Hale, Gregory J. Jonas, Robert G.
Kutsenda, Benjamin S. Neuhausen, Richard R. Petersen, Danny D. Rudloff, Steve M. Samek, John E.
Sorrells, John E. Stewart and William E. Swanson

Sharon Katz

DAVIS POLK & WARDWELL

450 Lexington Avenue

New York, New York 10017

Telephone: (212) 450-4000

Facsimile: (212) 450-3633

Email: andersen.courtpapers@dpw.com

Attorneys for Defendants Arthur Anderson, LLP, Arthur Andersen-Puerto Rico, C.E. Andrews, Dorsey L.
Baskin, Michael L. Bennett, Joseph F. Berardino, Donald Dreyfus, James A. Friedlieb, Gary B. Goolsby,
Gregory W. Hale, Gregory J. Jonas, Robert G. Kutsenda, Benjamin S. Neuhausen, Richard R. Petersen,
Danny D. Rudloff, Steve M. Samek, John E. Sorrells, John E. Stewart, Michael D. Jones and William E.
Swanson
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Harvey G. Brown

ORGAIN BELL & TUCKER LLP

2700 Post Oak Blvd., Suite 1410

Houston, TX 77056

Telephone: (713) 572-8772

Facsimile: (713) 572-8766

Attorneys for Defendants Andersen-United Kingdom and Andersen-Brazil

Michael G. Davies

HOGUET NEWMAN & REGAL, LLP
10 East 40th Street

New York, NY 10016

Telephone: (212) 689-8808

Facsimile: (212) 689-5101

e-mail: mdavies(@hnrlaw.com

Paul Vizcarrondo, Jr.

WACHTELL, LIPTON, ROSEN & KATZ

51 West 52nd Street

New York, NY 10019

Telephone: (212) 403-1000

Facsimile: (212) 403-2000

Email: pvizcarrondo@wlrk.com

Attorneys for Defendants Banc of America Securities LLC and Salomon Smith Barney Inc.

Eric J.R. Nichols

BECK, REDDEN & SECREST, L.L.P.

One Houston Center

1221 McKinney Street, Suite 4500

Houston, Texas 77010

Telephone: (713) 951-3700

Facsimile: (713) 951-3720

enichols@brsfirm.com

Attorneys for Defendants LJM Cayman, L.P., and Michael J. Kopper, and Chewco Investments

Jack C. Nickens

NICKENS, KEETON, LAWLESS, FARRELL & FLACK, L.L.P.

600 Travis Street, Suite 7500

Houston, Texas 77002

Telephone: (713) 571-9191

Facsimile: (713) 571-9652

trichardson(@nlf-law.com

Attorneys for Defendants Richard B. Buy, Estate of J. Clifford Baxter, Deceased, Paula Ricker, Richard
A. Causey, Mark A. Frevert, Stanley C. Horton, Joseph M. Hirko, Mark E. Koenig, Steven J. Kean,
Jeffrey McMahon, Michael S. McConnell, J. Mark Metts, Cindy K. Olson, Kenneth D. Rice, Kevin P.
Hannon and Lawrence Greg Whalley
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Jack O’Neill

CLEMENTS, O’NEILL, PIERCE, WILSON & FULKERSON, L.L.P.
Wells Fargo Plaza

1000 Louisiana Street, Suite 1800

Houston, Texas 77002-5009

Telephone: (713) 654-7607

Facsimile: (713) 654-7690

Email: sutton(@copwf.com

Attorneys for Defendant Joseph W. Sutton

Roger E. Zuckerman, Esquire
Zuckerman Spaeder, L.L.P.

1201 Connecticut Avenue, N.W.
Washington D.C. 20036-2638
Telephone: (202) 778-1800
Facsimile: (202) 882-8106
enron(@zuckerman.com

Attorneys for Defendant Lou L. Pai

Murray Fogler, Esquire

McDade Fogler Maines, L.L.P.
Two Houston Center

909 Fannin, Suite 1200

Houston, Texas 77010-1006
Telephone: (713) 654-4300
Facsimile: (713) 654-4343
mfogler@mfml.com

Attorneys for Defendant Lou L. Pai

Abigail K. Sullivan

BRACEWELL & PATTERSON, L..L.P.

South Tower Pennzoil Plaza

711 Louisiana, Suite 2900

Houston, Texas 77002-2781

Telephone: (713) 223-2900

Facsimile: (713) 221-1212
asullivan{wbracepatt.com

Attorneys for Defendant James V. Derrick, Jr.

Robin C. Gibbs

Jeremy L. Doyle

GIBBS & BrRUNS, L.L.P.

1100 Louisiana, Suite 5300

Houston, Texas 77002

Telephone: (713) 650-8805

Facsimile: (713) 750-0903

jdoyle@gibbs-bruns.com

Attorneys for Defendants Robert A. Belfer, Norman P. Blake, Ronnie C. Chan, John H. Duncan, Joe H.
Foy, Wendy L. Gramm, Robert K. Jaedicke, Charles E. Walker, John Wakeham, Charles A. LeMaistre,
John Mendelsohn, Frank Savage, Herbert Winokur, Jerome Meyer

100062740 DOC}
11



John J. McKetta, III

GRAVES, DOUGHERTY, HEARON & MoODY, P.C.
515 Congress Avenue, Suite 2300

Austin, Texas 78701

Telephone: (512) 480-5600

Facsimile: (512) 478-1976
mmcketta@gdhm.com

Attorneys for Defendant Rebecca-Mark Jusbasche

William F. Martson, Jr.

TONKON TORP, L.L.P.

1600 Pioneer Tower

888 S.W. Fifth Avenue, Suite 1600
Portland, Oregon 97204-2099
Telephone: (503) 802-2005

Facsimile: (503) 972-7407
enronservice(@tonkon.com

Attorney for Defendant Ken L. Harrison

H. Bruce Golden

GOLDEN & OWENS, LLP

1221 McKinney Street, Suite 3150
Houston, Texas 77010

Telephone: (713) 223-2600

Facsimile: (713) 223-5002

golden@ goldenowens.com

Attorneys for Defendant John A. Urquhart

Barry Flynn

LAW OFFICE OF BARRY G. FLYNN, P.C.
1300 Post Oak Blvd., Suite 750

Houston, Texas 77056

Telephone: (713) 840-7474

Facsimile: (713) 840-0311
bgflaw@mywavenet.com

Attorneys for Defendant David B. Duncan

Jeffrey W. Kilduff

O’MELVENY & MYERS

1650 Tysons Blvd.

McLean, Virginia 22102

Telephone: (703) 287-2412

Facsimile: (703) 287-2404

Attorney for Defendant Jeffrey K. Skilling
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Robert M. Stern

O’MELVENY & MYERS, LLP

555 13™ Street, N.W., Suite 500 West
Washington, D.C. 20004-1109

Telephone: (202) 383-5300

Facsimile: (202) 383-5414
rstern(@omm.com

Attorneys for Defendant Jeffrey K. Skilling

Ronald G. Woods

5300 Memorial, Suite 1000
Houston, Texas 77007
Telephone: (713) 862-9600
Facsimile: (713) 862-8738
Attorney for Jeffrey K. Skilling

Scott B. Schreiber

ARNOLD & PORTER

555 Twelfth Street, NW

Washington, D.C. 20004-1206

Telephone: (202) 942-5000

Facsimile: (202) 942-5999
enroncourtpapers@aporter.com

Attorneys for Defendant Thomas H. Bauer

David F. Wertheimer

HOGAN & HARTSON LLP

875 Third Avenue

New York, New York 10022
Telephone: (212) 918-3000

Facsimile: (212) 918-3100

e-mail: dfwerthermer(@hhlaw.com
Attorneys for Defendant Debra A. Cash

Amelia Toy Rudolph

SUTHERLAND ASBILL & BRENNAN LLP
999 Peachtree Street, NE

Suite 2300

Atlanta, Georgia 30309

Telephone: (404) 853-8000

Facsimile: (404) 853-8806

Attorneys for Defendant Roger D. Willard
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Billy Shepherd

CRUSE SCOTT HENDERSON & ALLEN, L.L.P.

600 Travis Street, Suite 3900

Houston, Texas 77002-2910

Telephone: (713) 650-6600

Facsimile: (713) 650-1720

bshepherd@crusescott.com

Attorneys for Defendants David Stephen Goddard, Jr., Debra A. Cash, Michael M. Lowther and Michael
C. Odom

Michael D. Warden

SIDLEY AUSTIN BROWN & Woop, L.LP.

1501 K Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20005

Telephone: (202) 736-8000

Facsimile: (202) 736-8711
mwarden(@sidley.com

Attorneys for Defendant D. Stephen Goddard, Jr.

John K. Villa

WILLIAMS & CONNOLLY, L.L.P.

725 Twelfth Street, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20005-5901

Telephone: (202) 434-5000

Facsimile: (202) 434-5029

pvilla@we.com

Attorneys for Defendants Vinson & Elkins, L.L.P., Ronald T. Astin, Joseph Dilg, Michael P. Finch, Max
Hendrick, II1

James E. Coleman, Jr.
CARRINGTON COLEMAN SLOMAN
& BLUMENTHAL, L.L.P.
200 Crescent Court, Suite 1500
Dallas, Texas 75201
Telephone: (214) 855-3000
Facsimile: (214) 855-1333
deakin@ccsb.com
Attorneys for Defendant Kenneth L. Lay

Linda L. Addison

FULBRIGHT & JAWORSKI, LLP

1301 McKinney, Suite 1500

Houston, Texas 77010-3095

Telephone: (713) 651-5628

Facsimile: (713) 651-5246

laddison@fulbright.com

Attorneys for The Northern Trust Company & Northern Trust Retirement Consulting LLC

{00062740 DOC}
14



Steve W. Berman

Clyde A. Platt, Jr.

HAGENS & BERMAN, LLP

1301 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2900

Seattle, Washington 98101

Telephone: (206) 623-7292

Facsimile: (206) 623-0594
steve@hagens-berman.com

Co-Lead Counsel for the Tittle Plaintiffs

Robert Hayden Bums

BURNS WOOLEY & MARSEGLIA
1415 Louisiana, Suite 3300
Houston, Texas 77002
Telephone: (713) 651-0422
Facsimile: (713) 651-0817
hburns@bwmzlaw.com

Attorneys for Defendant Kristina Mordaunt

Anthony C. Epstein

STEPTOE & JOHNSON, LLP

1330 Connecticut Avenue, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20036

Telephone: (202) 429-3000

Facsimile: (202) 429-3902

aepstein(@steptoe.com

Attorneys for Philip J. Bazelides, Mary K. Joyce and James S. Prentice

Mark C. Hansen

KELLOGG, HUBER, HANSEN, ToODD & EVANS, PLLC
1615 M. Street, N.W., Suite 400

Washington, D.C. 20036

Telephone: (202) 326-7900

Facsimile: (202) 326-7999

mhansen(@khhte.com

Attorneys for Defendant Nancy Temple

Mark A. Glasser

KING & SPALDING

1100 Louisiana, Suite 4000

Houston, Texas 77002

Telephone: (713) 751-3200

Facsimile: (713) 751-3290
mkglasser@kslaw.com

Attorneys for Defendant LIM II Co-Investments
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Charles G. King

KING & PENNINGTON, LLP

1100 Louisiana Street, Suite 5055

Houston, Texas 77002-5220

Telephone: (713) 225-8400

Facsimile: (713) 225-8488

cking@kandplaw.com

Attorneys for Defendant Bank of America Corporation, Banc of America Securities LLC

Jeffrey C. King

HUGHES & LUCE, LLP

1717 Main Street, Suite 2800
Dallas, Texas 75201
Telephone: (214) 939-5900
Facsimile: (214) 939-6100
kingj@hughesluce.com
Attorney for Bruce Wilson

Bemard V. Preziosi, Jr.

CURTIS, MALLET-PREVOST, COLT & MOSLE, LLP
101 Park Avenue

New York, New York 10178-0061

Telephone: (212) 696-6000

Facsimile: (212) 697-1559

bpreziosi@cm-p.com

Attorneys for Defendant Michael C. Odom

Dr. Bonnee Linden, Pro Se

LINDEN COLLINS ASSOCIATES

1226 West Broadway, P.O. Box 114
Hewlett, New York 11557
Telephone: (516) 295-7906

Andrew J. Mytelka

David LeBlanc

GREER, HERZ & ADAMS, LLP

One Moody Plaza, 18" Floor

Galveston, Texas 77550

Telephone: (409) 797-3200

Facsimile: (409) 766-6424

amytelka@greerherz.com

dleblanc(@greerherz.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs American National Insurance Company, American National Investment Accounts,
Inc., SM&R Investments, Inc., American National Property and Casualty Company, Standard Life and
Accident Insurance Company, Farm Family Life Insurance Company, Farm Family Casualty Insurance
Company, National Western Life Insurance Company
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John Murchison, Jr.
VINSON & ELKINS, LLP
2300 First City Tower

1001 Fannin

Houston, Texas 77002
Telephone: (713) 758-2222
Facsimile: (713) 758-2346
imurchison(@velaw.com

Gary A. Orseck

ROBBINS, RUSSELL, ENGLERT, ORSECK & UNTEREINER, LLP
1801 K. Street, N.-W., Suite 411

Washington, D.C. 20006

Telephone: (202) 775-4500

Facsimile: (202) 775-4510

e-mail: gorseck@robbinrussell.com

Attorneys for Defendant Michael M. Lowther

Lynn Lincoln Sarko

KELLER ROHRBACK, LLP

1201 Third Avenue, suite 3200

Seattle, Washington 98101-3052
Telephone: (206) 623-1900

Facsimile: (206) 623-3384

Co-Lead Counsel for the Tittle Plaintiffs

Henry F. Schuelke, III

JANIS, SCHUELKE & WECHSLER
1728 Massachusetts Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20036
Telephone: (202) 861-0600
Facsimile: (202) 223-7230
hsschuelke@janisschuelke.com
Attorney for Defendant Ben Glisan

Jacalyn D. Scott

WILSHIRE SCOTT & DYER, P.C.

3000 One Houston Center

1221 McKinney

Houston, Texas 77010

Telephone: (713) 651-1221

Facsimile: (713) 651-0020

jscott(@wsd-law.com

Attorneys for Defendant CitiGroup, Inc. and Salomon Smith Barney, Inc.
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Richard Mithoff

MITHOFF & JACKS

One Allen Center, Penthouse

500 Dallas

Houston, Texas 77002

Telephone: (713) 654-1122

Facsimile: (713) 739-8085
enronlitigation@mithoff-jacks.com

Attorneys for Defendant J.P. Morgan Chase & Co.

John W. Spiegel

MUNGER, TOLLES & OLSON, L.L.P.

355 S. Grand Avenue, 35" Floor

Los Angeles, California 90071
Telephone: (213) 683-9100

Facsimile: (213) 683-5152
enron{@mto.com

Attorneys for Defendant Kirkland & Ellis

Alan N. Salpeter

MAYER, BROWN, ROWE & MAW

190 South LaSalle Street

Chicago, [llinois-60603

Telephone: (312) 782-0600

Facsimile: (312) 701-7711

e-mail: cibc-newby(@mayerbrownrowe.com

Attorneys for Defendant Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce

William K. Knull, III

MAYER, BROWN, ROWE & MAW

700 Louisiana, Suite 3600

Houston, Texas 77002-2730

Telephone: (713) 221-1651

Facsimile: (713) 224-6410

e-mail: cibc-newby{@mavyerbrownrowe.com

Attorneys for Defendant Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce

Barry Abrams

ABRAMS, SCOTT & BICKLEY, L.L.P.
700 Louisiana, Suite 1800

Houston, Texas 77002

Telephone: (713) 228-6601

Facsimile: (713) 228-6605

e-mail: babrams(@asbtexas.com
Attorneys for Defendant Barclays PLC
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William Edward Matthews

GARDERE WYNNE SEWELL, LLP

1000 Louisiana, Suite 3400

Houston, TX 77002

Telephone: (713) 276-5500

Facsimile: (713) 276-5555

Attorneys for Defendant Andersen Worldwide, S.C., Roman W. McAlindan and Philip A. Randall

Tom P. Allen

MCDANIEL & ALLEN

1001 McKinney Street, 21% Floor
Houston, Texas 77002

Telephone: (713) 227-5001

Facsimile: (713) 227-8750
tallen@medanielallen.com

Attorneys for Defendant Ben F. Glisan, Jr.

Edward Morgan Carstarphen, III

ELLIS, CARSTARPHEN, DOUGHERTY & GOLDENTHAL

720 North Post Oak, Suite 330

Houston, Texas 77024

Telephone: (713) 647-6800

Facsimile: (713) 647-6884

emc(@ecdglaw.com

Attorneys for Investors Partner Life Ins. Co., John Hancock Life Insurance Co., John Hancock Variable
Life Insurance Company

Bruce D. Angiolillo

SIMPSON THACHER & BARTLETT

425 Lexington Avenue

New York, New York 10017-3954

Telephone: (212) 455-2000

Facsimile: (212) 455-2502
bangiolillo@stblaw.com

Attorneys for Defendant J.P. Morgan & Chase Co.

Mark A. Kirsch

CLIFFORD CHANCE US LLP

200 Park Avenue, Suite 5200

New York, New York 10166

Telephone: (212) 878-8000

Facsimile: (212) 878-8375

mark kirsch@cliffordchance.com

Attorneys for Defendant Alliance Capital Management
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David H. Braff

SULLIVAN & CROMWELL

125 Broad Street

New York, New York 10004-2498
Telephone: (212) 558-4000

Facsimile: (212) 558-3588
enronpaperssullcrom.com

Attorneys for Defendant Barclays Bank PLC

Joel M. Androphy

BERG & ANDROPHY

3704 Travis Street

Houston, TX 77002

Telephone: (713) 529-5622

Facsimile: (713) 529-3785

e-mail: androphy(@bahou.com

Attorneys for Defendant Deutsche Bank AG

Lawrence Byrne

WHITE & CASE, L.L.P.

1155 Avenue of the Americas

New York, New York 10036

Telephone: (212) 819-8200

Facsimile: (212) 354-8113
Ibyrne@whitecase.com

Attorneys for Defendant Deutsche Bank AG

Richard W. Clary

CRAVATH, SWAINE & MOORE

Worldwide Plaza

825 Eighth Avenue

New York, New York 10019

Telephone: (212) 474-1000

Facsimile: (212) 474-3700

rclary(icravath.com

Attorneys for Defendant Credit Suisse First Boston Corp.

Michael Connelly

CONNELLY, BAKER, WOTRING & JACKSON
700 Louisiana, Suite 1850

Houston, Texas 77002

Telephone: (713) 980-1700

Facsimile: (713) 980-1701
mconnelly(@connellybaker.com

Attorney for Kirkland & Ellis
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Harvey Greenfield

LAw FIRM OF HARVEY GREENFIELD
60 E. 42" Street, Suite 2001

New York, New York 10165
Telephone: (212) 949-5500
Facsimile: (212) 949-0049
harvey.greenfield@verizon.net
Attorney for Morgan Krim

Ronald E. Cook

COOK & ROACH

Chevron Texaco Heritage Plaza

1111 Bagby, Suite 2650

Houston, Texas 77002

Telephone: (713) 652-2031

Facsimile: (713) 652-2029

rcook{@cookroach.com

Attorney for Defendant Alliance Capital Management

John W. Keker

KEKER & VAN NEST

710 Sansome Street

San Francisco, California 94111-1704
Telephone: (415) 391-5400
Facsimile: (415) 397-7188
iwk@kvn.com

Attorney for Andrew S. Fastow

Lawrence D. Finder

HAYNES & BOONE, L.L.P.

1000 Louisiana, Suite 4300

Houston, Texas 77002

Telephone: (713) 547-2000

Facsimile: (713) 236-5520

finderl@haynesboone.com

Attorneys for Defendant Credit Suisse First Boston Corporation

Chuck A. Gall

JENKENS & GILCHRIST

1445 Ross Avenue, Suite 3200

Dallas, Texas 75202-2799

Telephone: (214) 855-4338

Facsimile: (214) 855-4300

cgall@jenkens.com

Attorneys for Defendant J.P. Morgan & Chase Co.
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Kelley M. Klaus

MUNGER TOLLES & OLSON

355 South Grand Avenue, 35" Floor
Los Angeles, California 90071
Telephone: (213) 683-9100

Facsimile: (213) 687-3702
kklausm(@mto.com

Attorney for Defendant Kirkland & Ellis

Gregory A. Markel

CADWALADER, WICHKERSHAM & TAFT
100 Maiden Lane

New York, New York 10038

Telephone: (212) 504-6000

Facsimile: (212) 504-6666

Attorneys for Defendant Bank of America Corp.

Paul Bessett

Brobeck, Phleger & Harrison LLP

4801 Plaza on the Lake

Austin, Texas 78746

Telephone: (512) 330-4000

Facsimile: (512) 330-400]

bofa@brobek.com

Attorney for Defendant Bank of America Corp.

Fredrick F. Neid

ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

2115 State Capitol

Lincoln, Nebraska 65809-8920

Telephone: (402) 471-2682

Facsimile: (402) 471-3835

Ineid@notes.state.ng.us

Attorney for Nebraska Investment Council & the Public Employees Retirement Systems of the State of
Nebraska

Hugh R. Whiting

JONES, DAY, REAVIS & POGUE

600 Travis Street, Suite 6500

Houston, TX 77002-3008

Telephone: (832) 239-3939

Facsimile: (832) 239-3600

hrwhiting@jonesday.com

Attorneys for Defendant Lehman Brothers Holding, Inc.
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Gary Benjamin Pitts

PITTS & ASSOCIATES

8866 Gulf Freeway, Suite 117
Houston, Texas 77017-6528
Telephone: (713) 910-0555
Facsimile: (713) 910-05%94
castles96@aol.com

Attorney for Peter M. Norris, et al.

Brad S. Karp

PAUL, WEISS, RIFKIND, WHARTON & GARRISON
1285 Avenue of the Americas

New York, New York 10019-6064

Telephone: (212) 373-3000

Facsimile: (212) 757-3990

e-mail: grp-citi-service@paulweiss.com
Attorneys for Defendant CitiGroup, Inc.

Elizabeth T. Parker

Pepper Hamilton LLP

3000 Two Logan Square

Eighteenth and Arch Streets

Philadelphia, PA 19103

Telephone: (215) 981-4000

Facsimile: (215) 981-4756
parkere(@;pepperiaw.com

Attorneys for Defendant Kevin P. Hannon

Stephen J. Crimmins

Pepper Hamilton LLP

600 Fourteenth Street, NW

Washington, DC 20005-2004

Telephone: (202) 220-1208

Facsimile: (202) 220-1665
crimminss(pepperlaw.com

Attorneys for Defendant Kevin P. Hannon

Mark J. Rochon

Emmett B. Lewis

MILLER & CHEVALIER

655 Fifteenth Street, N.W., Suite 900
Washington, D.C. 20005-5701
Telephone: (202) 626-5819
Facsimile: (202) 628-0858

e-mail: mrochon@milchev.com
Attorneys for Paulo V. Ferraz Pereira
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